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WITANHURST

Other Buildings on the site:   
Grove Bank

Also visible on the map is another property, 
located on the site of the demolished Dorchester 
House and therefore within the grounds of the 
current Witanhurst. Marmaduke Bealing died in 
1726, and his wife sold the house and Baxters 
field to a John World in 1728. Part of the land 
in the sale was the site of Dorchester House, 

‘the land where heretofore stood the capital messuage of Henry, late Marquis 
of Dorchester, containing one acre, abutting north and east on the garden…’ It 
goes on to record that on part of the land there was late ’built a messuage in the 
possession of Richard Baker and a parcel of land late waste lying before the last 
mentioned called the Walk.’15

This property came to be known later in the nineteenth century as Grove 
Bank, located to the east of Witanhurst. Few records survive of the house, 
but a nineteenth century photo records its existence on the site of the former 
Dorchester House. (Figure 11). The property appears to have been a three storey, 
brick built house with a walled garden, fronted by a small area of planted public 
land; ‘The Walk’. To the east of the main house was a stable block, located at 
the very corner of the Dorchester House site. These buildings are depicted by 
Rocque on the very corner of West Hill, as it turns northwards into The Grove, 
with trees lining the boundary. 

15 Gater and Godfrey,  p.73.

The 1801 Map of the parish of St Pancras by John Tomson confirms and clarifies 
this complex site history. (Figure 12). The map shows the earliest surviving 
portion of Witanhurst facing West Hill and set behind an area of garden. To 
the west of the main house are two outbuildings, probably the barn and stable 
noted as the property of Richard Bealing. Access is from the south, via West 
Hill, with a lane leading into the stable area. The accompanying Terrier book 
to the map describes the Witanhurst buildings as the ‘mansion, offices and 
gardens of Crutchfield (sic) Esq.’ with an orchard and garden beyond, all in 
over four acres.

At the end of the yard is the other property, which seems to be divided into 
two houses with separate gardens behind. To the east is the house known as 
Grove Bank with a yard stretching northward and a long outbuilding to its 
west. Further east, approximately on the site of the current gatehouses, is the 
stable building to Grove Bank. Leading from the edge of the stables, across to 
the north west past the front of Grove Bank is the walkway known as ‘Quality 
Walk’.

It is also important to note the presence of the Fox and Crown Pub, located 
further to the west along West Hill, next-door to Witanhurst. The main building 
with various outbuildings, was set back from the road by a yard with a further 
cottage abutting the road slightly to the south-west. Late nineteenth century 

photos show the pub and courtyard but also show the adjoining building to the 
east, located within the confines of the Witanhurst estate. (Figure 13). This is 
likely to have been a stable or barn mentioned in later documents.

The Mid-Nineteenth Century: 
Changes under the Block family

In 1843, the house was purchased by Allen Block, 
who made considerable changes to the property.16 
Various maps track these changes until he sold the 
property in 1889 and show that little change had 
occurred by 1860. However, by the publication of 
the First Edition Ordnance Survey Map in 1870,  
Block had made major additions to the house. 

The map shows a large extension on the rear of the property and the house is 
also now known as ‘Parkfield.’ (Figure 14).

16 Gater and Godfrey, in Evans, p.2.

Figure 11: A late nineteenth century photograph (above) 
is the only surviving visual record of ‘Grove Bank’, its 
walled garden and the accompanying stables, (on the far 
right of the picture). The buildings were located on the site 
of the Dorchester House grounds, the site of the current 
Witanhurst’s car park area. See left for their location on 
the 1745 map of Highgate by Rocque. (Camden Archives, 
Holburn).

Original Witanhurst 
Buildings 
 
The Fox and Crown Figure 13: A late nineteenth century view of the Fox and Crown 

pub shows one of the buildings located on the Witanhurst estate, 
behind the wall to the left of the picture. This is likely to be a 
stable of barn mentioned in the later sales particulars. 

Figure 14: The First Edition Ordnance 
Survey Map of 1870, at a scale of 25 inches 

to the mile, provides a detailed layout of 
the house and grounds, and documents the 

changes made by the Block family. 
(Camden Archives, Holburn).  
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Figure 12: The Map of the Parish of St Pancras, produced in 1801 by John Tomson, 
showing the layout of the main house and the neighbouring Grove Bank buildings, 
which stood in the grounds of Witanhurst. (Camden Archives, Holburn).
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2.   The first OS map of 1870 (Fig. 14) shows some of the 
changes the took place following the purchase of the house 
in 1843 by Allen Block. It is now known as ‘Parkfield’ – The 
stables are still in use, there is a path leading past the Sum-
mit, but no indication of a wall in the current location.
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History of wall

1.   The map of 1801 (Fig 12) in-
dicated the original form of the 
18th Century House with the 
stables building that abutted 
the Fox and Crown (now The 
Summit) – see Fig 13. There 
is no indication of a wall on 
the line of the current wall at 
this time, just edging to what 
was presumed to be the Sta-
bleyard, access to which can 
be seen on the photograph 
(Fig.6) of the old house.
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WITANHURST

HISTORIC DEVELOPMENT

An ‘ancient messuage’:            
The Origins of Witanhurst

Adjacent to the Dorchester House site was 
another property, on the site of the present 
Witanhurst. The portion of the current 
Witanhurst facing south onto West Hill is the 
earliest section of the house, incorporated and 
adapted into the later buildings. Stylistically, 
this section appears to date from the late 

seventeenth/early eighteenth century. The earliest records however, date from 
the mid seventeenth century, when Peter Sambrooke, a London apothecary, 
1665, conveyed a building on the site to Simon Baxter, a London draper.12 The 
remaining section of the house therefore seems to have been a rebuild of an 
even older property on the site. 

Although dating from a later period, an image of the house from the 1880s 
provides a good idea of the original house and site prior to the development 
of the modern Witanhurst, and supports these early origins. (Figure 6). The 
image shows the Queen Anne style, five-bay, red brick house with walled front 
garden facing onto West Hill. To the east is a long range of buildings, which 
appear to be a group of stable mews facing onto a long yard. It it difficult to 
ascertain their age, but  they appear to be at least early eighteenth century in 
date and may have older origins.  

This photograph is supported by an undated watercolour of the house which 
shows more detail of the surrounding buildings. (Figure 7). The yard leads to 

12 Gater and Godfrey,  quoted in Evans, p.2.

a further house and there are also other buildings facing the mews, just out 
of view. The house itself is surmounted by a balustraded platform or lookout 
point, no doubt to take in the far-reaching views. To the rear of the property, 
there seems to be another group of buildings projecting backwards into the 
site. These are perhaps the earliest portions of the house, now lost, to which 
the early eighteenth century property was added. Other historic photos record 
the appearance of the stable buildings and the houses at the end of the yard. 
(Figures 8 & 9). The latter comprise two attached cottages that face into the 
main yard.

The possibility of earlier origins is supported by further documentary evidence. 
The house was sold to Richard Bealing in 1708, and after his death in 1724, 
it passed to his son, Marmaduke Bealing. The estate is described at this time 
as an ‘ancient messuage and garden’ in Highgate, with one acre of land near 
the messuage, heretofore of Sir Francis Pemberton. [Dorchester House]. This 
suggests a house with much older origins. He also inherited a further four 
acres, ‘heretofore of Francis Pemberton’ [probably the four acre field to the 

rear, known as Robinson Close or Baxter’s field]13 and ‘a parcel of waste with a 
barn and stable thereon and a parcel of waste before the house late of Richard 
Bealing.’14 The latter is likely to comprise the outbuildings to the rear of the 
house and the land immediately outside the front of the property.

The house passed to John World in 1728, to William Congreve in 1736 and 
then to a John Crutchfield in 1744, remaining in the family until 1843. The 
first cartographical evidence of the house dates from the time of Crutchfield’s 
acquisition, and takes the form of John Rocque’s Map of the County near ten 
miles round London begun 1741 and ended 1745. (Figure 10). The map is largely 
schematic and cannot be taken as an accurate description, but it clearly shows 
the property on the site. The buildings are depicted roughly in an L-shape, with 
further detached structures, probably outbuildings, on the land behind. The 
long stretch of stables can be seen, with the cottage located at the end off the 
yard.

13 Gater and Godfrey,  p.72.
14 Ibid., p.73.

Figure 6: An historic photograph of circa 1880 showing the stable range and yard to the 
east of the original, 5 bay house. The buildings behind the house may be remnants of 
an older section of house, or a later addition; no other evidence survives to date them. 
(English Heritage, National Monuments Record).

Figure 7: An undated watercolour of the buildings, taken from a similar view point as 
Figure 6. The cottage at the end of the yard, joined to the stables is visible. The entrance to 
the main house seems to be via gates at the far left of the picture. (©Highgate Literary & 
Scientific Institute). 

Figure 8: A nineteenth century 
photograph of the stables. (English 
Heritage, National Monuments 
Record).

Figure 9: A nineteenth century 
view of the stable buildings (left) 
and the two cottages at the end of 
the yard (centre). Trees are planted 
along the eastern boundary of the 
yard. (English Heritage, National 
Monuments Record).

Figure 10: John Rocque’s Map of 
the County near ten miles round 

London begun 1741 and ended 1745, 
with detail, with the original 

buildings highlighted. (Camden 
Archives, Holburn).



3.   The 1895 Town Map and the 1896 OS Map indicate a reduced footprint for the stables adja-
cent to the Fox and Crown (shown on Fig.13), but also indicates the wall in its current position. 
It appears to function in a retaining fashion for a belt of planting to its north and the newly laid 
out gardens of Parkfield, which are illustrated on the Sale catalogue for Parkfield of 1889 (Fig. 
15).

4.   From this it is reasonable to suppose the wall was built between 1870 (after Allen Block 
died) and before Walter Scrimgeour bought Parkfield in 1889.

5.   The wall is shown in its current position on the 1915 OS Map prior to the ‘Crosfield’ works 
and again on the 1937 Town Plan following completion of much of the alteration work to the 
House and works in the gardens by Harold Peto. (Fig 20).
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WITANHURST

HISTORIC DEVELOPMENT

The details of Block’s changes are clarified in the sales particulars of 1889. 
(Figure 15). The particulars describe the house as a ‘Capital Family Residence,’ 
the accommodation including a drawing room opening onto a verandah, a 
detached Billiard Room and a ‘handsome Span Roof Conservatory’ of about 
30ft 6 inches by 21ft. The previous extension has been enlarged further than 
as shown in 1870, now including a projecting end section with 3 bay windows. 
This long section may have been the conservatory but without plans, it is 
difficult to tell. Allen Block died in 1870 so his son must have been responsible 
for the later changes.17 Another addition is the separate house that has been 
built on the western edge of the grounds, shown as ‘The Limes’. Map evidence 
suggests that this was constructed sometime between 1832 and 1842. Included 
in the sale is the Fox and Crown pub, the adjoining Sutton Cottage and the 
cottages at the north end of the yard by the stables. 

The late-Nineteeth Century:                         
The Scrimgeour Alterations 

Block’s son sold the house in 1889 to Walter 
Scrimgeour Esquire who had previously lived 
at No. 5, The Grove. It was under Scrimgeour 
that arguably, the major expansion of Parkfield 
began. Scrimgeour’s first task seems to have 
been the enlargement of Parkfield, facilitated by 
the demolition of the long row of stables next 

17 William White, Notes and Queries (1914) p.465. Richardson states that the major   
 alterations were made in 1881. (Highgate: Its History since the 15th Century, p.93).

to the house in 1890.18 

The house was then extended to the north, retaining the original Georgian 
core. Scrimgeour’s redesign was by the architect John Malcolm, a friend of the 
family.19 His alterations can be seen in the second edition Ordnance Survey 
Map of 1896, (Figure 16) and in a photograph of the house from the north-
east. (Figure 17) The image shows the house extended by a staggered series of 
volumes with varied bay windows. Another photo of the front elevation shows 
that the house was also extended to the west of the Georgian core. (Figure 18)  

18 Gater and Godfrey, p.76.
19 Express and News, October 22 1971, at Holborn Library, News Cuttings Collections, in  
 John Browning Associates, p.8.

Drainage plans also survive, 
showing a more detailed outline 
plan of the house at this time. 
(Figure 19)

Although several sources state 
that the Fox and Crown Pub was 
demolished in 1895 to make way 
for new stables, there is no evidence 
to support this fact. The 1896 map 
still shows the pub on the same 
site, and the drainage plan shows a 
range of stables within the existing 
Parkfield site. Another suggestion 
of 1898 seems more likely. 

In addition, Scrimgeour bought the 
adjacent Grove Bank house in 1892. 
At the time, the house was being 
used as a school, and continued to 
operate as such under the lessees.20 
Shortly after, in 1898, Scrimgeour 
sold the property to Miss Rebecca 
Lacey of No.1 The Grove who used 
the residence as a school for girls. 

The footpath that formerly ran along the front of Grove Bank was also closed, 
adjusting the frontage of the land.21 These changes can be seen on the 1915 
Ordnance Survey Map. (Figure 20).

20 Gater and Godfrey, p.76.
21 Ibid.

Figure 16: (Left) The 1896 edition 
Ordnance Survey Map at a scale of 
25 inches to the mile, showing the 
alterations by Scrimgeour. The range of 
stables has now been demolished and the 
house extended northwards. (Camden 
Archives, Holburn).

Figure 15: Map with detail from the Sale Catalogue of 
Parkfield by Debenham, Tewson, Farmer and Bridgewater, 
dated October 8 1889. (Camden Archives, Holburn, 
Beal Collection).

Figure 17: (Below) An historic 
photograph shows Parkfield 

from the north-west as altered by 
Scrimgeour. (Highgate Literary & 

Scientific Institute). 

Figure 18: (Left) A further photograph 
shows the alterations made to the south 
elevation, looking towards the south-east 
corner. (Highgate Literary & Scientific 
Institute).

Figure 19: A surviving drainage plan shows the 
basic layout of Scrimgeour’s Parkfield, with the 
old stables to the south east, before the Fox and 
Hounds pub was demolished. (Camden Council 
Drainage Archives). 

Figure 20: The 1915 
edition Ordnance 
Survey Map at a scale of 
25 inches to the mile, 
confirms the alterations 
by Scrimgeour. The Fox 
and Crown pub has now 
been demolished and 
the site used to create 
new stables. Grove Bank 
is now being used as a 
school and is accessed 
via No.1 the Grove. 
(Camden Archives, 
Holburn).
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Purpose of wall

6. It would seem that the garden wall was constructed in the latter part of the 19th Century, the 
purpose of which initially was to retain a band of planting to screen the house from the stables 
that were located in the south-west corner of the site adjacent the Fox and Crown (The Sum-
mit).

7. The separation between stable yard and House would appear to have ceased with the remov-
al of the stable buildings by 1915. 

8. The demolition of the Fox and Crown pub (noted as 1898) and its subsequent rebuilding (as 
The Summit) gives the garden wall a role as a visual separation between this property and the 
south-westerly aspect of the House. 

Current Condition

9. Photos 1-3 indicate the current condition of the wall.

Photo 1: Looking along coping to 
the East.

Photo 2: Looking North towards the house

Photo 3: Looking South from the house side of the wall



10. Part of the eastern end of the wall was removed to facilitate the haul road. A short length 
has also been lost from the western end. (Pink areas on Plan 1).  

Plan 1

Proposals

11. Current proposals seek to re-establish the planting screen that features in the Parkfield plant-
ing scheme (Plan 2). The disposal of a substantial portion of the grounds and lack of alternative 
access to the Lower Gardens mean that a service path from the Forecourt to the Lower Gar-
dens just to the east of the Italianate Garden is essential for garden maintenance. The service 
path would  require the removal of a further 6m of wall (Red area on Plan 1 above).

12. It is proposed to repair the remaining wall  (light blue area on Plan 2) and re-build part of the 
western end of the wall. The ends of the wall will be terminated in a two and a half brick wide 
pier with a simple brick coping to refelct the simple rustic character of the wall. (Re-built walls 
shown in dark blue on Plan 2)

13. The garden wall serves a useful function in providing a visual screen and dealing with the 
drop in levels from the House to the southwest corner of the site. The current proposals seek 
to provide a discrete service route for garden maintenance that is separated visually from the 
main garden areas on the House’s SW frontage by a planting screen indicated on the approved 
set of landscape drawings (Green areas on Plan 2). This planting is the predominate feature in 
achieving this visual separation and the removal of part of this garden wall will have no material 
impact on the approved planting proposals that create the garden character and setting for the 
main house.



Plan 2 Showing repaired/rebuilt wall in blue and screen planting in dark green. 
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